General Practice Crisis Summit

White paper



Disclaimer

The information set out in this publication is current at the date of first publication and is intended for use as a guide of a general nature only and may or may not be relevant to particular patients or circumstances. Nor is this publication exhaustive of the subject matter. Persons implementing any recommendations contained in this publication must exercise their own independent skill or judgement or seek appropriate professional advice relevant to their own particular circumstances when so doing. Compliance with any recommendations cannot of itself guarantee discharge of the duty of care owed to patients and others coming into contact with the health professional and the premises from which the health professional operates.

Whilst the text is directed to health professionals possessing appropriate qualifications and skills in ascertaining and discharging their professional (including legal) duties, it is not to be regarded as clinical advice and, in particular, is no substitute for a full examination and consideration of medical history in reaching a diagnosis and treatment based on accepted clinical practices.

Accordingly, The Royal Australian College of General Practitioners Ltd (RACGP) and its employees and agents shall have no liability (including without limitation liability by reason of negligence) to any users of the information contained in this publication for any loss or damage (consequential or otherwise), cost or expense incurred or arising by reason of any person using or relying on the information contained in this publication and whether caused by reason of any error, negligent act, omission or misrepresentation in the information.

Recommended citation

The Royal Australian College of General Practitioners. General Practice Crisis Summit: White paper. East Melbourne, Vic: RACGP, 2022.

The Royal Australian College of General Practitioners Ltd 100 Wellington Parade East Melbourne, Victoria 3002 Wurundjeri Country

Tel 03 8699 0414 Fax 03 8699 0400 www.racgp.org.au ABN: 34 000 223 807

Published November 2022

© The Royal Australian College of General Practitioners 2022

This resource is provided under licence by the RACGP. Full terms are available at www.racgp.org.au/usage/licence. In summary, you must not edit or adapt it or use it for any commercial purposes. You must acknowledge the RACGP as the owner.

We acknowledge the Traditional Custodians of the lands and seas on which we work and live, and pay our respects to Elders, past, present and future.

Contents

Purpose of this document	4
Executive summary	5
Introduction	5
Discussion	5
Conclusion	6
1. Implementing reform	7
2. Discussion summaries	8
2.1. Focus area: Funding general practice's leading role in patient-centred, continuous and coordinated care	8
2.2. Focus area: General practice as an attractive career path with long-term career sustainability	14
2.3. Focus area: Capture, linkage and meaningful use of data to support equitable general practice-based care	19
3. Additional post-Summit feedback	24
4. Contributors	26
5. References	27

Purpose of this document

This document was produced by the RACGP as an overview of the discussion and recommendations put forward at the General Practice Crisis Summit held on 5 October 2022 in Canberra.

The General Practice Crisis Summit was convened to gather general practice leaders and healthcare stakeholders, including peak bodies, health organisations, consumer representatives, clinicians and academics, to discuss the future of patient care and general practice, and to highlight possible solutions for reform.

Efforts were made to ensure that a diverse range of viewpoints and experiences were represented at the Summit – incorporating participants from a mix of regions, health professions, genders, backgrounds, and organisations.

This document captures and reflects the key recurring and well-supported themes raised throughout the Summit. These discussions were centred around the following key topic areas and prompt questions.

Funding and fragmentation: What funding model is required to support general practice's leading role in providing patient-centred, continuous and coordinated care, and to ensure equitable access to this care?

General practice workforce: How can we address and reverse the erosion of the general practice workforce, ensuring general practice is an attractive career path with long-term career sustainability?

General practice data: How can we improve the capture, linkage and meaningful use of data (including patient experience, clinician experience and quality patient outcomes) to support equitable general practice-based care?

Each of the above topic sessions were informed by presentations from subject matter experts.

The recommendations in the paper do not necessarily articulate RACGP or participant position. Rather, this paper captures the consensus statements made during the General Practice Crisis Summit.

Summit participants were given the opportunity to review and provide feedback regarding this White paper to ensure it is an accurate reflection of the discussion on the day.

The RACGP will use the discussions and recommendations put forward at the Summit to inform future RACGP policy and advocacy activities.

Executive summary

Introduction

Australians deserve access to a quality, comprehensive, connected primary care sector that provides them with coordinated care led by their general practitioner (GP). However, timely and equitable access to general practice services, particularly in rural and remote areas, is a growing issue.

On 5 October 2022, the Royal Australian College of General Practitioners (RACGP) held the General Practice Crisis Summit in Canberra to discuss and recommend solutions to the critical challenges impacting patient access to affordable, quality care from a financially viable general practice sector.

These challenges are complex and multifaceted, all issues are interconnected, and changes to one have foreseeable ripple effects on all others. There is unprecedented demand for health services as the population ages and rates of chronic disease and psychological distress increase. Hospital and emergency department demand continues to skyrocket, resulting in ramping, suboptimal healthcare delivery, poorer patient outcomes, and increasing secondary and tertiary health expenditure.

Decades of significant underfunding and cost-cutting has left general practice on the brink of collapse. Almost half of practicing GPs have indicated that it is no longer financially sustainable for them to continue working in general practice. The proportion of bulk-billed GP services dropped for the first time in almost two decades, and experts predict a shortfall of 11,392 GPs, or almost 28% of the general practice workforce, by 2032.² Medical student interest in general practice as a career is now at a low of just 13.8%.

The COVID-19 pandemic and recent natural disasters have compounded these issues, highlighting the gaps and inequities in the current delivery of primary care, exacerbating workforce burnout and draining resources within general practice. In addition to the increasing costs of living, out-of-pocket costs for patients accessing care have risen by 48% over the past decade, reflecting how Medicare patient rebates have failed to keep pace with the growing cost of delivering healthcare.³

Discussion

Evidence shows that a well-supported general practice sector will result in efficiencies for primary and secondary care and the broader healthcare system.^{4–6} Generalist approaches to complex health concerns offer integrative care that enables quality cost-effective tertiary care.^{7,8} Local and international evidence clearly demonstrates that better support for, and use of, general practice is associated with:

- better health outcomes for patients
- lower emergency department presentations and hospital use
- · decreased hospital readmission rates
- significant savings for the healthcare system.

This document summarises the discussion at the General Practice Crisis Summit and provides an overview of the recommendations put forward in the following three key areas:

- funding and fragmentation
- · general practice workforce
- general practice data.

Discussion topic 1: Funding and fragmentation

General practice urgently requires significant and sustained investment. Flexible and blended payment models, which are appropriately and regularly indexed with pricing set through an independent pricing process, are required to support the delivery of quality healthcare in an equitable manner. These models should retain a simplified core approach of fee-for-service, and re-balance funding towards supporting patient access to longer consultations, which would enable the provision of comprehensive care that addresses optimal health promotion, prevention, treatment and management of chronic health conditions.

Investment by all current funders needs to significantly increase, and additional funders should be considered to support the provision of high-quality care in general practice. This should lead to a funding model with substantial and well-coordinated contributions from local, state, territory and federal governments to structurally reduce fragmentation and the tendency to cost-shift between silos. This should be set out through key structures, such as the National Health Reform Agreement.

Discussion topic 2: General practice workforce

General practice needs to be a more attractive career choice for both doctors in training and those already in the profession. Early and sustained exposure to general practice, alongside greater support and training for general practice leaders across all spectrums of medicine, including clinical, academia and education, will help to achieve this and promote a shift towards increased respect for the valuable role that GPs play in ensuring the health and wellbeing of all Australians. While broader measures to enhance the general practice workforce will help address some issues around distribution, targeted solutions are urgently required to fill workforce gaps in rural and remote areas.

Discussion topic 3: General practice data

GPs should be empowered to collect, analyse and use their data. This requires interoperability between systems, standards to support interoperability and information transfer, a clear framework for data governance, and ultimately linkage of data across the education, health, social services and justice sectors. GPs must have ownership of and lead governance over their curated data and intellectual property. To ensure a culture of continuous quality improvement, general practice must be appropriately supported to analyse their own data and draw meaningful and actionable insights. Research by GPs requires significant and ongoing investment to ensure a sustainable academic sector that generates high-quality evidence to improve general practice care.

Conclusion

Urgent investment in general practice is needed to ensure that the health system is supported to meet the current and future health needs of all people in Australia. Significant investment will also reinforce general practice as a sustainable and attractive career path for future doctors, helping to address workforce shortages, and future-proofing the provision of effective and efficient patient care in the community.

A well-resourced general practice sector will provide tailored, flexible, focused whole-person care across the lifespan of citizens. Summit participants agreed we must see a broad shift away from acute hospital-based care and towards maximising patient health and wellbeing over time This can be done through increased support for prevention activities, health promotion, early intervention, detection and generalist chronic disease, and mental health management within a primary care setting led by general practice. We must acknowledge that discreet episodic care by individuals does not facilitate these outcomes, and truly integrated multidisciplinary care over time requires appropriate investment, incentive and appropriate linkages back to general practice.

Participants agreed that the consequence of not addressing the general practice crisis will be a far more expensive and inefficient system, with non-GP specialist dominated care and greater inequalities in access to healthcare across the country. Without urgent action on the short-term priorities, medium- and long-term aspirations will become irrelevant.

The recommendations outlined in this paper are intended to inform and prompt discussion around current and future health reform.

Thank you to all those who took the time to attend the Summit and work collaboratively towards meaningful solutions to address the challenges facing general practice, now and into the future.

1. Implementing reform

Any reform activities must involve patients and GPs from the outset, incorporating patient needs, funding approaches, and structures that encourage and support GP engagement. This will ensure that any new models of care do not compromise either the safety and wellbeing of patients or the viability of general practice.

Health reform must be undertaken in partnership with patients and general practices. Nothing about us, without us.

GPs, together with their patients, are experts in patient care, navigating the health system and ensuring optimal health outcomes. The unique frontline experience means that GPs are well placed to provide advice on health policy and funding reform, and their input is critical to ensure fit-for-purpose approaches.

GP leadership and involvement in research and policy development will also help to present evidence-based alternatives to hospital-centric solutions for population health needs, providing more options focused on better support for, and utilisation of, primary care. Administrative or political decisions that are made without adequate consultation and agreement from those working in the sector will not only lack the insight required to make changes a success, but will also further alienate the sector, exacerbating current workforce shortages.

As stated above, it is also essential that health reform involves patients from inception. GPs will continue to advocate strongly for patients to have a voice in future health reform, in the same way that we advocate every day for their access to affordable and quality healthcare.

We also acknowledge that any discussion about health system reform, including the first point of access in terms of primary healthcare, needs to address appropriate responses to cultural, ethnic, language and faith/religion diversity for both patients and those working in the sector.

2. Discussion summaries

Focus area: Funding general practice's leading role in patient-centred, continuous and coordinated care

This discussion focused on the importance of affordable and accessible care, as well as reducing fragmentation within the health system.

Funding for primary care as a proportion of total government healthcare spend is in decline, and funding for patient care through GPs and general practice services represents only 7.4% of total government health expenditure in Australia. The lack of investment in general practice is counterintuitive, given GPs are Australia's most accessible doctors.

Supporting patients to see their GP and general practice team ensures that they are healthier, happier and are able to productively participate in society. Importantly, GPs keep patients out of expensive and often distressing hospital care. There is strong international evidence that GPs and stronger primary care health systems help to lower healthcare costs and deliver improved and more equitable health outcomes.^{9,10}

Currently, most funding for general practice in Australia is provided through a fee-for-service model under the Medicare Benefits Schedule (MBS), with a portion of additional funding available through specific incentive programs. The MBS itself has remained largely unchanged since its inception in 1984. It was designed and implemented before the management of multiple chronic diseases was commonplace, and before technology existed to facilitate the delivery of some healthcare safely without face-to-face consultations.

Given the rising prevalence of chronic disease, the ageing population and increasing multimorbidity, Summit participants broadly agreed that the MBS no longer prioritises the type of healthcare Australians need. It overvalues procedural medicine, rather than consultation-based medicine, and rewards rapid throughput of patients, rather than quality time spent with patients to better manage their health and build an ongoing therapeutic relationship. This misaligned funding makes the provision of high-quality, personcentred general practice inevitably unsustainable.¹¹

Further, as has been well documented, patient rebates provided under the fee-for-service model have failed to keep pace with the increasing time and complexity of general practice care, and do not reflect the cost of providing safe and high-quality care. In 2022, the government increased Medicare patient rebates by just 1.6%. This represented a 65c increase to the patient rebate for a standard level B consultation. Inflation over the same period was 6.1%.²

A permanent and sustainable approach

Summit participants discussed working towards a new funding model for general practice, which:

- retains the foundation of fee-for-service payments through a simplified MBS
- better recognises the value of consultive services in addition to procedural activities
- incorporates blended funding (on top of fee-for-service) that is adjusted for clinical complexity and social need
- involves appropriate and regular indexation of any rebates or payments via an independent general practice pricing authority
- receives significant integrated funding contributions from government funders, including state, territory, and federal funding
- carefully considers the role of private insurers as potential contributors to primary care funding, and the safeguards required for this to occur equitably
- · supports multidisciplinary team-based care
- features localised flexibility to address areas of market failure and underserved communities, especially for rural and remote areas
- effectively balances funding between the practitioner and the practice.

2.1.1. Short-term measures: Initial investment to address the rising cost of care

High upfront costs for patients seeking healthcare directly affects their ability to access timely care for both the management and treatment of chronic and complex conditions and for acute or urgent problems. This negatively impacts health and wellbeing, as the severity of many health conditions are exacerbated without access to regular, urgent or preventive medical care when required. Experience has shown that this leads to further and unnecessary increases in healthcare cost.

Costs can be a substantial barrier to access, with 1.3 million Australians already delaying or avoiding accessing healthcare due to cost. Certain community groups, particularly those more likely to have more complex health needs, are especially vulnerable.¹

Initial targeted approach

Initial measures proposed at the Summit to support patient care through general practice include:

- an immediate injection of funding through the MBS, raising all patient rebates for general practice attendance items by at least 20%
- a significant increase in the bulk-billing incentives by three times; for example, increasing the fee for MBS item 10990 from \$7.75 to \$23.25
- lowering the Extended Medicare Safety Net threshold from \$717.90 to \$500
- adjustments to standard general practice consultation items, including reweighting time tiers and reducing the time intervals for standard consult items
- uncapping incentive payments, including those paid under the Practice Incentive Program (PIP) and Workforce Incentive Program (WIP)

- appropriate indexation for all funding mechanisms, including fee-for-service and block payments
- uncapping the number of services available per patient under MBS item 10997, which
 covers a service provided to a person with chronic disease by a practice nurse or an
 Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander health practitioner.

This suite of initial solutions was proposed by Summit participants as a first-line crisis intervention to address the urgent need for affordable general practice care across Australia, particularly for disadvantaged communities, and to prevent any more general practices from closing.

A key element of these initial measures is to resolve disparities in patient rebates for general practice consultations. Currently, the rebate values for standard GP consultations drop in value every minute, disadvantaging patients who require more time with their GP and GPs who provide high-value care for complex patients. This is due to both poor weighting of rebate values and overly lengthy time intervals. Participants agreed that we need to address the patient rebate disparities, and rebalance support towards longer consultations to enable comprehensive care that addresses optimal prevention, health promotion, treatment and management of chronic health conditions.

Summit participants were all cognisant of the need for cost-effective, high-value healthcare. While participants recognised that the solutions outlined above represent a significant increase in investment in the short term, ensuring that people can access general practice for preventive care, health promotion and early intervention will reduce future demand for expensive secondary and tertiary health services. This will generate savings for the broader health system.

Structural reform

Although the above measures will help address the immediate general practice crisis, participants highlighted that it is important not to lose sight of the large-scale structural reform required to fix the broader health system. Reforms should recognise the increasing importance of the role GPs play in diagnosis, treatment and management, health system stewardship and care coordination, especially given the growing complexity of the health system and shifting population health needs.

Participants discussed the need for system change that is based on the principle of general practice and primary healthcare as the cornerstone of improved health and quality healthcare. This needs to be based on a socially accountable framework, as the root of ill-health is too often related to socioeconomic determinants.

Voluntary patient enrolment (VPE) is a potential mechanism that can enable continuity of care and supports additional funding in addition to current fee-for-service funding. 12,13 Some participants discussed how the introduction of a sustainable and fit-for-purpose model of VPE could allow practices to establish proactive, team-based care with continuous quality improvement for a defined population of patients. VPE could also enable patient access to a range of modalities of care, including video, telephone, SMS and email, increasing the efficiency of the system if properly supported. Summit participants noted that adequate blended payments to practices would be an essential element of VPE.

The introduction of new structures, such as VPE, would potentially drive much of the change needed within the system to support better patient access to high-quality, continuous care. While it is acknowledged that the full implementation of VPE might not be feasible in the short term, participants raised the importance of beginning to lay the groundwork for this type of structural reform in the near future.

Participants were clear that they did not support capitation or a shift to a UK-style model of capitation in Australia, noting that VPE does not equate to capitation. Participants also flagged that the introduction of VPE would need to be carefully considered in consultation with the sector to ensure that it aligns with the business model and employment structures currently used within general practice. It must not contribute to any additional employment costs for practices or reduce the flexibility of employment options in general practice.

2.1.2. Medium-term measures: Setting up the structures for reform

Discussion on medium-term reform focused on the structures and processes needed to adapt our current funding and health system to meet demand and changing patient needs.

Participants recommended an independent general practice pricing authority be established and funded to evaluate and set pricing for general practice activities. This will encompass all general practice funding streams, including MBS patient rebates, as well as any block funding. This could be modelled on the Independent Health and Aged Care Pricing Authority, which sets national efficient price and national efficient cost to calculate funding of public health and aged care services. The pricing authority should oversee the regular and appropriate indexation of MBS rebates and other general practice payments.

Funders for primary care

Currently, the primary sources of funding for general practice are investment by the Federal Government and patient contributions.¹⁴ This contrasts with hospitals and other care providers that receive significant state and local government funding. Participants strongly recommended that long-term reforms incorporate greater funding for general practice from additional sources, particularly state and territory government funding.

Summit participants indicated that they would expect to see at least a 10% shift in state and territory health funding allocated to primary care and held independently for distribution towards key priorities. This would focus on reducing demand on emergency departments, potentially preventable hospitalisations and unplanned admissions. This redistribution of funding could be coded into key intergovernmental agreements, such as the National Health Reform Agreement. It should begin with an initial 2–3% in funding from state and territory governments, as suggested in the *Shifting the dial: 5 year productivity review* report from the Productivity Commission, that would grow to 10% over the next five years and into the longer term. We would anticipate that as state and territory governments see the overall health spend reduce as a consequence of their investment, they would voluntarily increase the percentage of health spending allocated towards general practice to increase long-term savings.

To address issues with fragmentation of federal and state funding, some participants suggested funding for general practice from all governments could be pooled. This would alleviate issues of service duplication and fragmentation of care where different programs with a similar intent are developed, funded and implemented by both federal and state/territory governments independently, therefore reducing costs at a whole-of-system level. The pooled funding could be tailored to support local needs and facilitate meaningful data and feedback loops to identify inefficiencies or issues. However, participants suggested that further work would be needed to consider the practical implementation of this approach.

Whole-of-practice care

In the medium-term, participants also indicated a need for funding directed towards 'whole of practice' capacity and development, supporting the essential work of multidisciplinary teams in patient care and disease prevention, health promotion, treatment and management. It was noted that primary care teams should be funded in ways that respect the expertise and training of all primary healthcare professionals. Funding should support primary healthcare professionals to practice within their scope of professional expertise and in close collaboration with general practice teams.

2.1.3. Long-term measures: A permanent sustainable funding model for general practice

Once the immediate crisis in general practice funding is addressed and the appropriate structures are in place to support reform, participants advised on the key elements for a permanent and sustainable funding model.

Participants agreed that long-term reform should focus broadly on implementing and maintaining a sustainable healthcare system. This should occur by shifting focus from reactive, disease-focused, hospital-based care to proactive, GP-led community-based health promotion, prevention, treatment and management of mental health issues and chronic multimorbidity. Based on this shift, by the end of the next

General Practice Crisis Summit

White paper

decade it would be expected that the proportion of funding for general practice would increase significantly via well-considered and industry-approved blended funding models, creating savings from, and slowing the trajectory to, expensive tertiary care.

Blended funding models

Summit discussions highlighted that a blended funding model supports multiple funding streams to be delivered via a variety of mechanisms; for example, through a mix of fee-for-service and block funding. This model offers flexibility and can provide significant advantages over solely fee-for-service funding, particularly for people with chronic and complex needs. A mixed approach can better support continuity of high-quality care, which is associated with improved outcomes for both the patient and the health system.¹⁵ This flexible model of funding also supports complex care, preventive care, health promotion, care coordination and care for underserved populations within general practice.

While Australia's general practice system already represents a partially blended funding model through the mix of fee-for-service and block funding delivered through the PIP and WIP, the current system is heavily weighted towards fee-for-service. Additional funding over and above fee-for-service is required to provide balance between various funding streams for a truly blended model. **This should be achieved through additional investment, not a redirection of fee-for-service funding to block payments.**

A fee-for-service model is, and should remain, the foundational platform for general practice funding and the primary means of support for patients accessing Australian general practice services. Fee-for-service ensures that patient care is supported, regardless of the size of the practice they attend, their geographic location or any other limiting factors.

However, we need to see action to simplify and streamline the MBS, reducing complexity and supporting GPs to deliver high-quality continuous services to all their patients.

More flexible funding

One of the key issues raised with the current approach and historical reforms is the lack of flexibility to tailor funding towards the needs and services in the local community, and to address equity. This is particularly important in areas of market failure, such as rural and remote Australia, which face unique challenges to organising and delivering healthcare. Isolation and limited access to healthcare services mean they require a unique approach.

Participants supported the principle of removing bureaucratic barriers to access funding, particularly for chronic disease treatment and management. They were also supportive of the intention to allow greater flexibility in the use of funding to achieve better workforce recruitment, retention and models of care that suit community needs. Participants advised they would expect to see co-commissioning arrangements, including general practice input and appropriate remuneration, to support the flexible use of funds to meet local needs. As part of the new funding model, it was suggested there should also be consideration of salaried approaches for underserved communities and areas of market failure, with ongoing evaluation and benchmarking. The impact of certain solutions in these areas on the viability of existing general practices should also be carefully considered.

Potential role for private health insurance

Increased involvement of private health insurance in general practice, with specific safeguards and limitations in place to maintain clinical autonomy and patient choice, was raised as an option to support the delivery of patient services. This funding could play a role in improving chronic disease management and treatment, preventive care, health promotion, and reducing hospital admissions. Greater funding for chronic disease programs and allied health supports that enable GPs to deliver comprehensive could be explored. If implemented, this would need to be carefully managed to maintain the separation of Medicare and private health insurance, integrating with and augmenting GP-led care, rather than duplicating services. ¹⁶

While attendees agreed that private health insurance could provide an additional source of funding for the sector, significant concerns were also raised. It was noted this could undermine the autonomy of the treating practitioner and the options available to patients in the formulation of their individualised management plans. There were also concerns about inequitable access to care. The consensus among Summit attendees was that Australia should not go down a path of a US-style managed care system, whereby patient access to care is dependent on their level of private health insurance cover.

Other proposed measures

Summit participants also discussed the potential benefits of offering training in value-based healthcare, health economics, data analysis and management, outcome measurement, and other related disciplines so that GPs can have meaningful input into the design and delivery of primary care services in Australia.

Further areas raised for consideration by Summit participants included issues relating to general practices as small/medium businesses (ie payroll tax) and support for after-hours funding in general practice. These were not discussed in detail, but are flagged in this White paper for consideration, given they relate to the broader funding approach to general practice.

2.1.4. Summary of recommendations

The below recommendations are intended to be reflective of the discussion undertaken at the General Practice Crisis Summit and do not represent RACGP-endorsed policy.

Timeframe	Solution
Short term	Raise MBS patient rebates for general practice care by at least 20%
	Increase the bulk-billing incentives by three times
	Lower the Extended Medicare Safety Net threshold from \$717.90 to \$500
	Adjust standard general practice consultation MBS items to reweight time tiers, reduce the time intervals (eg five-minute increments) and ensure longer consultations are appropriately valued
	Uncap and properly index general practice incentive payments, including those paid under the PIP and WIP
	Uncap MBS item 10997 to allow for more than five services per patient in a calendar year
	Begin to introduce VPE as the gateway to supporting ongoing telehealth, care continuity and primary care reform funding, with equitable allocation to both practice and practitioner
Medium term	Introduce an independent general practice pricing authority to evaluate and set pricing for general practice activities on which MBS patient rebates and other payments will be fixed
	Regular and appropriate indexation of MBS rebates and other general practice payments, as overseen by the independent general practice pricing authority
	Shift 10% of state and territory health funding towards general practice-led preventive health, and hospital and emergency department avoidance activity, held external to state governments, utilising the National Health Reform Agreement
Long term	Consider pooled funding and co-commissioning approaches that include general practice input and appropriate remuneration, inclusive of all practices within the region
	Consider salaried models of care for underserved communities and areas of market failure, with ongoing evaluation and benchmarking

2.2. Focus area: General practice as an attractive career path with long-term career sustainability

Australians deserve access to healthcare from an appropriately qualified doctor. GPs are specialist doctors who have trained for at least 10 years to make complex diagnostic decisions and work with patients to treat, manage and coordinate their health problems. Without GPs at the heart of primary care, patients lose access to the critical generalist medical skills that GPs possess, and are more likely to experience fragmented and expensive care, and worse health outcomes.¹⁷

Australia is facing a shortage of GPs alongside worsening maldistribution of the current workforce. Medical student interest in general practice as a career is now at an all-time low of just 13.8% and, with almost 40% of GPs aged over 55 years, there are significant concerns about the devastating impact a decline in specialist GP numbers will have on access to care in the community.

The 2022 *General Practice: Health of the Nation* report suggests that one-quarter of GPs plan to retire within the next five years, an increase from 18% in 2021. In real numbers, this equates to more than 7500 GPs,² worsening already worrying workforce projections that predict a deficit of 11,517 GPs by 2032.

General practice clinics are already affected by this general practice exodus, with an increasing proportion of practice owners reporting that sourcing and retaining GPs is a key challenge.

We have also seen an increasing concentration of the medical workforce in non-GP specialties. The number of non-GP specialists continues to grow faster (4.5% per year) than the number of GPs (3.5% per year). In 2014 there were 3143 more specialists than GPs, and this grew to 5283 in 2019. This shows the increasing shift away from generalism and generalist approaches and skillsets.

The link between general practice funding and workforce challenges

Summit participants flagged that funding systems play an important part in the attractiveness of the profession and supporting the future general practice workforce. Inadequate remuneration, as both a GP in training and as a specialist GP, is contributing to the reduced interest in general practice as a career choice.¹⁹

From the outset, choosing a career as a GP is devalued in comparison to other medical careers. The disparity between the average GP in training's income (at the time of commencing general practice training) and hospital-based positions (that would alternatively be available to them) is estimated by the RACGP to be approximately \$30,000 per annum.²⁰ An additional important disincentive is the loss of entitlements, such as parental, study and sick leave.

Many GPs have also identified the lack of varied career paths as a key deterrent to choosing general practice as a career.

Summit participants highlighted that, without immediate and long-term investment in general practice, targeted workforce measures are unlikely to effectively address the issue of the general practice workforce. Significant reform regarding general practice support and funding is required to ensure the sustainability of general practice and the workforce, both now and into the future.

2.2.1. Short-term measures: Urgent measures to address workforce supply

Immediate action is needed to address key gaps within the current workforce and ensure ongoing access to care for all. All participants agreed it was essential that general practice is seen as an attractive career for medical students and doctors, not one that is associated with poor remuneration and excessive red tape.²¹

General Practice Crisis Summit

White paper

GPs in training face various financial pressures when they transition from the hospital training environment to general practice in community settings. Disparities in remuneration and benefits between hospital-based doctors (including doctors in hospital-based specialty training programs) and GPs in training are a critical disincentive to pursue a career in general practice. To ensure the sustainability of the future general practice workforce, participants recommended increasing the base salary for GPs in training to be commensurate with equivalent hospital-based positions. This will require government support, as training practices are not in a financial position to pay for improved trainee remuneration.

Compliance and red tape

Government Medicare compliance activities were also flagged throughout the Summit as having a disproportionately negative impact on recruitment into general practice training and on the delivery of high-quality care through general practice. More than three-quarters of GPs reported that ensuring compliance with Medicare takes time away from patient-facing care, and 47% indicated that they either avoided providing certain services or avoided claiming patient rebates (despite providing the services) out of fear of Medicare compliance ramifications. Reducing red tape and the burden of Medicare compliance in general practice is essential to increase the appeal of the profession. This must comprise a shift from punitive and onerous compliance processes towards a greater focus on provider education, guidance on how to interpret the MBS and simplification of the MBS to reduce the risk of error.

Practically, Summit participants suggested that there should also be a focus on reducing the red tape burden related to credentialing, authority scripts, named referrals and misaligned referral templates.

Broader measures to address urgent workforce supply

Summit participants raised issues around the availability and cost of locum schemes for GPs. Reliable and cost-effective locum schemes, to support GPs to upskill and take time away from practice, are critical. The lack of locum schemes is a well-documented barrier for rural and remote GPs seeking to build advanced skills, and can be a key factor in GPs choosing to practice in rural and remote areas.²² However, it was acknowledged that this is not a long-term solution to workforce issues, and structural and funding reform to ensure the sustainability and attractiveness of general practice are needed alongside this and other short-term measures.

One of the three designated roles of primary health networks (PHNs) is to work closely with GPs and other health professionals to assess and build the capacity of the health workforce to deliver high-quality care.²³ Rather than just retaining this as a generic aim for PHNs, participants recommended that the Federal Government designates general practice workforce support as a top priority for PHNs across the country, with a proportion of PHN funding designated for this focus area.

Some participants noted that many PHNs are already co-commissioning a range of services and supports in the primary care sector, while others suggested it remained unclear as to where PHN funding, support and research sits within primary care. It was suggested that more structures be put in place for PHNs to work collaboratively with GPs on all primary care activities and funding measures. One key focus of these structures should be on promoting GP visibility of PHN-commissioned programs and services that enable care for patients to be enhanced; for example, care navigation services funded by PHNs.

2.2.2. Medium-term measures: Re-establishing the value and attractiveness of general practice as a career

Participants observed that exposure to general practice during medical school and prevocational years is critical to influencing the attitudes of medical students towards general practice as a career.²⁴ Currently, medical students and prevocational doctors are exposed to a range of other medical specialties, but do not consistently have an opportunity to undertake a general practice rotation during pre-Fellowship training. There needs to be investment in medical student and junior doctor interest in general practice.

There was widespread support among Summit participants for the introduction of a program that supports all doctors to undertake a 10–12-week rotation in an accredited training general practice. This type of general practice exposure is invaluable for building unique general practice skills across the medical workforce and allowing junior doctors to experience general practice as a potential career. Such a scheme would need to be accompanied by financial support for supervision within the practice to ensure patient safety, and to support a high-quality educational and clinical junior doctor experience.

The skills acquired through practicing medicine in the community are essential for all medical professionals. Quality exposure to general practice for medical students and junior doctors must be prioritised.

The skills acquired through practicing generalism in the community are essential for all medical professionals. Supporting additional prevocational training placements in general practice, and realigning prevocational training requirements to ensure that community-based generalism skills are required, will help to encourage more medical students and prevocational doctors to gain experience in general practice earlier, exposing them to general practice as a career choice. Participants recommend that this scheme include optional placements in Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Services to showcase the value of general practice within these services and promote a valuable experience for junior doctors.

Supporting GPs in training and international medical graduates

The nature of general practice and the structure of general practice training, placements and rotations mean that GPs in training might not be able to remain with one practice long enough to accumulate leave entitlements (eg study leave, sick leave, parental leave). Additionally, there is no mechanism in place to carry forward previously accrued entitlements to subsequent employers. Junior doctors make crucial decisions about their career based on available entitlements and their family and personal circumstances. Some GPs in training have reported that they elected to stay within the hospital system for longer, and delayed applying for general practice training, to access paid parental leave. Some Summit participants recommended that a national body be established, independent of state and territory governments, to protect GPs in training's entitlements and to ensure salary parity with their hospital-based counterparts. Some participants also suggested a single employer model to address disparity in remuneration and employment conditions between GPs in training and their hospital-based counterparts.

It was also noted that international medical graduates (IMGs) have a substantial role in the Australian general practice workforce, particularly in rural and remote areas. IMGs comprise most of the GPs entering the rural workforce and a significant proportion of the existing general practice workforce.²⁵ Participants acknowledged the benefits of culture and language diversity in the general practice workforce (both IMGs and Australian medical graduates) as being reflective of the Australian population and contributing to health service delivery, which is culturally appropriate and safe.²⁶

Many Summit participants flagged the need for **an integrated workforce and support strategy for IMGs** that incorporates more incentives and support, and a reduction of red tape and administrative barriers to working in Australia. This strategy should be implemented by a single entity responsible for streamlining IMG employment, retention and social support.

Valuing general practice

General practice is often not consistently highly valued or respected in the broader health system or within Commonwealth and state authorities. There needs to be a cultural shift towards acknowledging the importance of general practice and appropriately valuing GPs' work, as well as and rejecting task substitution to non-medical health professionals. A key part of this is supporting GPs to be leaders

General Practice Crisis Summit

White paper

throughout the health system, as well as in medical research and education. Increasing opportunities for GPs to take on visible leadership roles within the healthcare system has the potential to reduce the exodus from the field, and positively influence medical student and junior doctor attitudes towards general practice as a career.^{27,28}

Several participants also suggested exploring fast tacking training for interested Fellowship of Australasian College Emergency Medicine holders to enter general practice. This could be considered in further detail as a measure to swiftly address workforce issues.

2.2.3. Long-term measures: Cementing general practice as an appealing and sustainable career choice

In the long-term, Summit participants identified flexible and supported career progression in a connected healthcare environment, with opportunities and resources to support leadership, as a key priority. To support and maintain a positive culture within general practice, participants recommended the development of general practice networks that provide localised and tailored support to meet individual needs, including cultural and lifestyle support, mentoring and leadership. These could incorporate dedicated support and role-modelling for new GPs in the first few years of Fellowship, as well as support for GPs relocating to work in areas of need (eg rural and remote areas).

Additional long-term measures will be required to address workforce distribution across Australia, particularly in rural and remote areas, and areas of significant growth. While it is expected that broad measures to increase the number of GPs will help to alleviate many access issues, there will need to be ongoing monitoring of workforce data, as well as research into workforce distribution and modelling. This will help to promote a sustainable and long-term approach to the general practice workforce, ensuring that governments are able to understand and address any ongoing issues.

Solutions for underserved communities

As highlighted in the section on funding reform, there needs to be significant attention given to developing appropriate solutions for workforce and service gaps in underserved communities and areas of market failure. More flexible employment structures (eg salaried roles) could be a key measure to attract GPs to rural and remote areas, as well as other areas of workforce need.

Evidence shows that the two key drivers of GPs choosing to work in rural areas are: (1) the quality and duration of the rural training experience; and (2) having grown up in, or spent a considerable time living in, a rural community.²⁹ Summit participants discussed a range of initiatives aimed at training rural GPs, attracting experienced GPs to rural areas and supporting existing rural GPs. These could include:

- a whole-of-community approach to settle GPs into rural communities; for example, supporting the GP to find accommodation, childcare or education options for their children and work for their partner
- increased support for rural GP supervisors, including increased funding for compensation, and access to training and professional development
- increasing support for GPs training in rural communities; for example, bursaries to train in rural communities, travel expenses and accommodation provision
- models of support from 'sibling' metropolitan practices (eg provision of regular in-person and/or telehealth locum GP assistance).

Participants also raised the potential of incentives to encourage new doctors to choose general practice as a career; for example, a bonus structure for completing general practice training or a student loan rebate after a set number of years working in general practice. Some of these incentives were contentious and garnered opposition from other attendees.

Several participants also discussed a directive for governments to invest in infrastructure that supports the training and retention of GPs according to local needs. Summit participants also raised the narrative of the essential value of the GP in the rural and remote context for reducing ill-health in the community, and minimising the need to access secondary and tertiary services.

2.2.4. Summary of recommendations

The below recommendations are intended to be reflective of the discussion undertaken at the General Practice Crisis Summit and do not represent RACGP-endorsed policy.

Timeframe	Solution
Short term	Increase the base salary for GPs in training to be commensurate with equivalent hospital-based positions
	Reduce red tape in general practice, including streamlining and simplification of the Medicare system, and realign Medicare compliance approach to be less punitive and more educational/preventive
	Introduce reliable and cost-effective locum schemes, including support for GPs to upskill
	Designate general practice workforce support as a top priority for PHNs, and increase visibility and engagement with PHN co-commissioned measures
Medium term	Introduce a program to increase exposure to general practice in prevocational training years
	GP in training entitlements and employment conditions be reviewed to ensure salary and leave entitlement parity with hospital-based counterparts to improve the attractiveness of general practice as a career. This includes consideration of a single-employer model to address disparity in remuneration and employment conditions
	Introduce an integrated strategy for IMGs that incorporates more incentives and support, reducing red tape and administrative barriers
	Consider a single entity that streamlines IMG introduction, employment and retention
	Increase leadership opportunities and incentives for GPs in health services, medical education and research
Long term	Build infrastructure according to local needs, supporting the training and retention of GPs
	Develop general practice networks that provide tailored support to meet individual needs, including cultural and lifestyle support, mentoring and leadership
	Introduce flexible employment structures for underserved communities and areas of market failure

2.3. Focus area: Capture, linkage and meaningful use of data to support equitable general practice-based care

There is great innovative potential in general practice, given its position embedded in the community and at the frontline of health service delivery. GPs have the ability to recognise changes in population health and wellbeing that have not yet progressed upstream.

Participants acknowledged that the collection of health data at a general practice level has the potential to facilitate increased efficiencies in care delivery, create more proactive preventive interventions, identify atrisk populations, inform health strategy and planning, support quality-improvement initiatives in Australian general practice and support judiciously targeted investment.

Currently, comprehensive general practice data, including outcomes data, are not consistently available for policy, research and quality-improvement purposes. They are also not consistently linked with other data (eg hospital data) to support evaluation and research, high-quality patient care and more informed delivery of care within the practice. Data linkage should aim to inform opportunities to improve patient experience and outcomes and overall health system efficiency.

While GPs are often the 'information managers' and advocates for their patients, they are not well supported to engage with, use and safeguard their own valuable data, and often general practice data are used for a range of purposes without GPs' full involvement and knowledge. Research with GPs should be prioritised over research on GPs and their services. Further, many GPs who undertake research often lose income to become academic leaders, disincentivising GPs from doing research or higher degrees.

2.3.1. Short-term measures: Defining the approach and addressing initial barriers

Analysis of healthcare-generated data has the potential to anticipate and better treat illnesses, improve coordination of care across the system and to recognise individuals who are at significant risk of serious health problems. Participants noted that, with the increase in available technology, there are many ways to collect data across the healthcare sector, but there are not consistent ways to make the data usable or broadly available.

Improvements to data collection, linkage and use will be reliant on improving the digital systems that underpin general practice and the broader healthcare system. Data should be readily available to GPs and other practice staff to support quality improvement and better patient outcomes.

GPs must have ownership of their data and should lead data governance over their curated intellectual property. Reforms in this area, in the short term and beyond, should reflect the critical role of GPs in collecting, curating and managing their data within general practice.

A strategic approach to general practice data

To guide the approach to data and digital health in general practice, participants were in broad agreement that there needs to be an overarching data strategy for general practice. This strategy should clearly articulate the key purpose and enablers for data collection, linkage and use in general practice, as well as the value and importance of general practice data to the practice and to their patients. GPs and their patients need to be aware of how their data, including patient records, are being used and for what purpose.

The strategy should incorporate the following principles:

- Shared data from general practice should be used for service planning, resource allocation, quality improvement and research.
- Shared data from general practice must not be used for disciplining or penalising general practice.
- GPs must be recognised partners in the governance of data collection and usage activities, including research and evaluation, from design to delivery.
- General practice data are owned by general practices and GPs. These data have value, and
 the ownership of these data by GPs needs to be addressed in its use. Data should be used to
 demonstrate outcomes and value so that savings can be invested back into primary care.
- Protection of data is critical to address privacy and security concerns. Data should be deidentified but able to be linked regionally. It should be able to be re-identified back at the practice to facilitate support for individual patients.
- Transparent and ethical frameworks should guide the capture and sharing of general practice data and highlight the uses of data captured in general practice.

The past two decades have seen widespread adoption of clinical information systems (CIS) in general practice. The future of safe and efficient patient care largely depends on these systems. Participants agreed that there is an urgent need for an uplift in the way general practice CIS present and share data about patients both inside (imported data) and outside (exported data) general practices. Participants flagged that the current interface with the My Health Record (MyHR) is so poor that it is almost unusable. It was also noted that the current expectation that GPs will routinely interact with multiple parallel systems, ignoring the time and workload constraints of GPs, is unrealistic.

Supports for interoperability and improved data quality

Participants supported the urgent development and adoption of standards to assist with the interoperability of information transfer between parts of the health system, including the residential aged care system, which should be developed through a collaboration of users, experts in clinical informatics and vendors of clinical information systems. The standards must support the standardised structure, content and management of clinical records.³⁰ It was recognised at the Summit that increased interoperability might also increase privacy and security concerns, requires complex planning and financial and time investment, and should be supported by education and training to increase uptake, adoption and safety.

There would also be benefit in using general practice networks (as identified in focus areas 1 and 2) to create local learning health systems that can promote learning from their data to facilitate quality improvement. It is expected that these networks would help to support peer-based learning and help address any issues or barriers that arise at a local level. These could be based on the learnings from the successes and challenges of the Australian Primary Care Collaboratives Program, and should link into current primary care infrastructure, such as PHNs.

Improved data quality will drive research across the healthcare sector and support quality improvement activities, leading to safer systems and improved quality of care. Comprehensive datasets might be available through systems, such as MyHR; however, this is dependent on the submission of complete and high-quality data. A key barrier to data entry by general practice is the lack of funding offered for collecting valuable population health information, as this is a manual task requiring significant staff time. As such, there must be immediate consideration of measures to support general practice staff to collect and code data gathered within their practice.

Research in general practice

Increasing research in general practice through greater investment from the National Health and Medical Research Council (NHMRC) and the Medical Research Future Fund should also be a key priority over the short term and into the future. There needs to be a renewed focus on supporting research in general practice, including adequate funding to document the care provided to patients, their health outcomes and the resulting impact on the healthcare system more broadly. General practice research must be driven and led by GPs who can interpret data and analyse results informed by their clinical and academic experience of the unique context of general practice care. Increased general practice research can support meaningful quality-improvement activities to drive improvements in patient health outcomes and safety, and to analyse different models of care.

It is important that, from the outset, any new initiatives promoting data collection, linkage and use should limit any additional administrative burden to preserve our expert GPs for patient-facing services.

2.3.2. Medium-term measures: Embedding high-quality data collection and heightening data linkage

Summit participants acknowledged and flagged the significant work in data collection being undertaken by various research groups, as well as ongoing work by PHNs to support greater data collection. Participants emphasised that collaborative action across the sector is an important element of the medium-term approach.

Measuring outcomes and experiences

Participants noted that in the medium term, there should be a growing focus on supporting general practices to seamlessly collect and use patient-reported outcome measures (PROMs) and patient-reported experience measures (PREMs) to measure the patient experience of receiving healthcare and outcomes that patients value. These should be used to guide improvement, including via the general practice networks outlined above in the short-term measures. Further, indicators of quality and outcome measurements should be developed in collaboration with GPs to ensure they are contextually relevant, fit for purpose and are interpreted appropriately. There should also be consideration of the limitations of PROMs and PREMs in certain circumstances.

Working towards systematically embedding PROMs and PREMs will be critical to facilitating improved patient care and demonstrating the superior outcomes and benefits delivered by general practice, including economic outcomes. However, participants noted the broader use of this data will rely critically on fostering trust between key stakeholders, including GPs, PHNs and local hospital districts.³¹ There needs to be a national and comprehensive approach to data governance that includes GPs, with adequate security measures to promote this trust.³²

Government and key stakeholders, including GPs, should be working collaboratively with software developers to support ongoing improvements that promote the capture of quality data and build on previous work to improve clinical information systems. This approach should include greater incentives for all participants to support quality data capture and work towards near real-time data extraction to support quality improvement and research.

As part of this, Summit participants advocated strongly for the introduction of improvements to user interfaces, coding and security within clinical software systems, as well as minimum coding and data standards for the health system. Participants advised they would also expect to see seamless use of external data, for example, MyHR, in the clinical workflow, rather than as a parallel system.

Gaps in healthcare provider knowledge of digital health systems and data, including collection, linkage and use, should be addressed to support best practice in this area. Summit participants support adopting a central approach to improving the data and digital health curriculum in medicine, from undergraduate to specialty training and ongoing. This is important across the health system to support the linkage of data between primary, secondary and tertiary care. The educational approach should address the good use of clinical information systems, enhancing data quality through best practice data collection and the ethical use of data in healthcare.

Supporting data linkage

In terms of broader data linkage across the health system, participants firmly agreed on the need for significant advancements in this area across the medium term. This should include the upscaling and wider rollout of successful data linkage projects, incorporate robust security and privacy measures to protect the personal health data of patients, and support transparency of data collection and use. There must also be a focus on involving and upskilling GPs in data analysis and interpretation, ensuring they are involved at every stage of data collection and use, and ensuring they can access data for their own quality-improvement activities.

Participants also raised the importance of robust monitoring and reporting of GP and staff satisfaction with data measures and digital health implementations, to help to ensure any measures introduced are fit for purpose and acceptable to those working in general practice and providing patient care. This initiative would support a broader shift towards GP leadership in data governance and use. GPs should have ownership of their data throughout any linkage processes.

General practice research

Participants highlighted general practice research as a key focus in the medium term and beyond. Producing evidence to underpin clinical practice in primary care requires a thorough understanding of the general practice context. The active participation of GPs and their practice teams is essential for successful research and research translation in the primary care setting. To build a robust general practice research sector, participants identified the need to support practices and GPs to participate in general practice research, including funding of higher degree by research scholarships (including part-time options), fellowships and grants, to sustain general practice researchers throughout their careers.

Importantly, work to support general practice research should also build on already established research programs based on general practice data and practice-based research networks. Summit participants flagged that an investment in primary care researchers can be used to develop methodology to use the data we do have more effectively.

There was also broad agreement around the re-introduction of funding for high-quality longitudinal studies in general practice. One of the key challenges facing general practice is the lack of evidence generated through these long-term studies, such as the now discontinued Bettering the Evaluation and Care of Health (BEACH) and Medicine in Australia: Balancing Employment and Life (MABEL) studies.

2.3.3. Long-term measures: Achieving one integrated system of data collection, sharing and usage

Many Summit participants agreed that the aim of reforms to general practice data should be to produce an integrated health system that uses a shared system for the purposes of clinical care, research and health service improvement. High levels of interoperability and continuous software improvement will result in improved access to the most current and correct information, and enable high-quality care for people across Australia. Systems should be well designed and support users with low levels of digital literacy, particularly those in overburdened sectors, such as aged care.

Lastly, participants identified that robust data linkage through an overarching national approach, that incorporates data from various sectors, is also important. This would include health, justice, social services and education data to drive equitable investment that is allocated according to social determinant modifiers. Seamless sharing of relevant data should occur within all levels of the health system, informing clinical decision-making, more personalised care, local quality improvement and health system planning. A key use of general practice data is to identify high-value general practice activities, as well as unmet patient needs or other gaps or inefficiencies in primary care, to invest in evidence-based initiatives to further strengthen general practice, primary care and patient outcomes.

2.3.4. Summary of recommendations

The below recommendations are intended to be reflective of the discussion undertaken at the General Practice Crisis Summit and do not represent RACGP-endorsed policy.

Timeframe	Solution
Short term	Introduce overarching data strategy for general practice
	Create standards to assist with interoperability of information transfer between parts of the health system
	Support a significant uplift in the CIS to be able to seamlessly present and share data about the patients GPs care for
	Introduce funding to support general practice staff to collect and code data gathered within their practice
	Create general practice networks to create local learning systems that can promote learning from their data to facilitate quality improvement
	Increase research within, for and by general practice through greater investment from the NHMRC
Medium term	Apply a national approach to data governance, transparency and security structures to promote trust
	Adopt a central approach to improving the data and digital health curriculum in medicine, from undergraduate to specialty training and ongoing
	Implement greater incentives for all participants to support quality data capture and working towards near real-time data extraction to support quality improvement and research
	Upscale key data linkage projects, incorporating robust security and privacy measures
	Introduce robust monitoring and reporting on GP and staff satisfaction, with data measures and digital health implementations
	Implement support for practices and GPs to participate in general practice research, including funding of scholarships, fellowships and grants, and practice-based research networks
	Re-introduce funding for high-quality longitudinal studies in general practice
Long term	Support robust data linkage through an overarching national approach that incorporates data from various sectors, including health, justice, social services and education

3. Additional post-Summit feedback

Following the General Practice Crisis Summit, participants were given the opportunity to review a draft of this White paper and provide their feedback. Feedback that reflected the recommendations discussed at the Summit was incorporated into the White paper (as above), while any new content has been noted below.

The new content included comments on the following topics.

Topic 1

- Appropriate responses to cultural, ethnic, language and faith/religion diversity in those accessing primary care.
- Weighting in Medicare item numbers for GPs to work on a team-based care model inclusive
 of nursing, allied health, bicultural support workers and interpreters to enable integrated care
 and support those factors.
- Addressing those with chronic illness or palliative illness (including survivors of childhood trauma and domestic and family violence) via the Medicare Safety Net threshold.
- Rather than a general practice pricing authority, introducing an overarching body that covers hospital care, primary care and other social supports.
- The need for consideration of the potential tax and employment implications of the introduction of voluntary patient enrolment (VPE).
- Support for GPs to spend time on paperwork for disability pension or National Disability Insurance Scheme access applications for patients.
- The value of embedding pharmacists within general practice.
- Planning for the approach to VPE to address GPs with specific interests.
- A forum for discussion about the way that GPs can contribute to the broader context of healthcare.

Topic 2

- Using the Workforce Incentive Program to incentivise older GPs to stay and not retire, with an annual boost in funding for GPs over 60 years of age.
- Embedding reward for experience/career progression into funding models.
- Recognising the interface of the private medical business model on the economies of the health system.
- Curriculum training and pathways around working with priority population groups with complex healthcare needs and barriers posed through structural inequities; for example, patients with unresolved asylum seeker claims.
- Education and research with a dedicated focus on multicultural health, noting that disparities and solutions cannot be advocated, tracked or progressed as a matter of routine practice.
- Consideration of workforce issues related to changes in the Practice Experience Program and Section 19AB restrictions and exemptions.

Topic 3

- Fostering innovation via adequate research infrastructure, linking to specific learning health systems.
- Education for patients on the importance of data collection.
- Capturing data via coding of diagnoses using the International Classification of Diseases-10.
- Gaps in research into the provision of general practice services to culturally and linguistically diverse (CALD) patients, including costs.
- Significant deficits in data capture relating to culture and language diversity through general practice software systems.
- Publishing data on CALD populations in each of the 31 PHN catchment areas in respect to demographic profiles, health status and inequity data.
- This White paper forming part of a longitudinal process of assessing progress, with key performance indicators to be revisited over time.

4. Contributors

The RACGP again thanks all individuals and organisations that contributed to the General Practice Crisis Summit and the development of this document. We particularly acknowledge the input and advice provided by those involved in the running of the General Practice Crisis Summit and the following authors and reviewers of the paper:

RACGP President: Adjunct Professor Karen Price

General Practice Crisis Summit Master of Ceremonies: Dr Mukesh Haikerwal AO

Subject matter experts: Funding and fragmentation: Dr Michael Wright and Professor Claire Jackson

Subject matter experts: General practice workforce: Dr Michael Clements and Professor Jenny May

Subject matter experts: General practice data: Dr Steve Hambleton and Clinical Associate Professor

Louise Stone

RACGP Policy and Advocacy staff:

Roald Versteeg, Chief Policy Officer

Michelle Gonsalvez, National Manager

Susan Wall, Program Manager

Lily Edwards, Senior Policy Officer

5. References

- 1. Sturmberg JP. Health system redesign. How to make health care person-centered, equitable, and sustainable. Cham: Springer, 2018.
- The Royal Australian College of General Practitioners. General Practice Health of the Nation 2022. 2022. Available at www.racgp.org.au/getmedia/80c8bdc9-8886-4055-8a8d-ea793b088e5a/Health-of-the-Nation.pdf.aspx [Accessed 31 October 2022].
- 3. Department of Health and Aged Care. Statistics under Medicare. Annual Medicare Statistics. 2022. Available at www1.health.gov.au/internet/main/publishing.nsf/Content/Medicare%20Statistics-1 [Accessed 31 October 2022].
- 4. Baird B, Reeve H, Ross S, et al. Innovative models of general practice. London: The King's Fund, 2018.
- 5. Sripa P, Hayhoe B, Garg P, Majeed A, Greenfield G. Impact of GP gatekeeping on quality of care, and health outcomes, use, and expenditure: A systematic review. Br J Gen Pract 2019;69(682):e294–303.
- 6. Southey G, Heydon A. The Starfield Model: Measuring comprehensive primary care for system benefit. Health Manage Forum 2014;27(2):60–64.
- 7. Lynch JM, van Driel M, Meredith P, et al. The craft of generalism: Clinical skills and attitudes for whole person care. J Eval Clin Pract 2021;28(6):1187–94.
- 8. Gunn JM, Palmer VJ, Naccarella L, et al. The promise and pitfalls of generalism in achieving the Alma-Ata vision of health for all. Med J Aust 2008;189(2):110–12.
- Macinko J, Starfield B, Shi L. Quantifying the health benefits of primary care physician supply in the United States. Int J Health Serv 2007;37(1):111–26.
- 10. Macinko J, Starfield B, Shi L. The contribution of primary care systems to health outcomes within Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) countries, 1970–1998. Health Serv Res 2003;38(3):831–65.
- 11. Reeve J, Blakeman T, Freeman G, et al. Generalist solutions to complex problems: Generating practice-based evidence The example of managing multi-morbidity. BMC Fam Pract 2013;14(1):112.
- 12. Wright M, Versteeg R. Introducing general practice enrolment in Australia: The devil is in the detail. Med J Aust 2021;214(9):400–2.
- 13. Western Australia Primary Health Alliance. Comprehensive primary care: What patient centred medical home models mean for Australian primary health care. Belmont, WA: WAPHA, 2016.
- Australian Government, Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, Health expenditure Australia 2019–20. Canberra, Australia: AIHW. Available at www.aihw.gov.au/reports/health-welfare-expenditure/health-expenditure-australia-2019-20/data [Accessed 31 October 2022].
- 15. Yang Z, Ganguli I, Davis C, et al. Physician versus practice-level primary care continuity and association with outcomes in Medicare beneficiaries. Health Serv Res 2022;57(4):914–29.
- 16. The Royal Australian College of General Practitioners. The role of private health insurance in primary care. 2022. Available at www.racgp.org.au/advocacy/position-statements/view-all-position-statements/health-systems-and-environmental/the-role-of-private-health-insurance-in-healthcare#:~:text=The%20RACGP%20shares%20member%20and,of%20their%20individualised%20management%20 [Accessed 31 October 2022].
- 17. Greenfield S, Rogers W, Mangotich M, Carney M, Tarlov A. Outcomes of patients with hypertension and non-insulindependent diabetes mellitus treated by different systems and specialties JAMA 1995;274(18):1436–44.
- 18. Scott A. The evolution of the medical workforce. ANZ–Melbourne Institute health sector report. Melbourne: Melbourne Institute of Applied Economic and Social Research, University of Melbourne, 2021.
- 19. Sivey P, Scott A, Witt J, Joyce C, Humphreys J. Junior doctors' preferences for specialty choice. J Health Econ 2012;31(6):813–23.
- The Royal Australian College of General Practitioners. Pre-budget submission 2020–21. 2020. Available at www.racgp.org.au/FSDEDEV/media/documents/RACGP/Reports%20and%20submissions/2019/RACGP-Prebudget-submission-2020-21.pdf [Accessed 31 October 2022].
- 21. Thistlethwaite J, Kidd MR, Leeder S, Shaw T, Corcoran K. Enhancing the choice of general practice as a career. Aust Fam Physician 2008;37(11):964–68.
- 22. Li J, Scott A, McGrail M, Humphreys J, Witt J. Retaining rural doctors: Doctors' preferences for rural medical workforce incentives. Soc Sci Med 2014;121:56–64.

- 23. Department of Health and Aged Care. What primary health networks do. 2021. Available at www.health.gov.au/initiatives-and-programs/phn/what-phns-do [Accessed 31 October 2022].
- 24. Parker J, Hudson B, Wilkinson T. Influences on final year medical students' attitudes to general practice as a career. J Prim Health Care 2014;6(1):56–63.
- The Royal Australian College of General Practitioners. Health of the Nation 2021. 2021. Available at www.racgp.org.au/health-of-the-nation/chapter-2-general-practice-access/2-2-gp-workforce#Figure22 [Accessed 31 October 2022].
- 26. O'Sullivan B, Russell DJ, McGrail MR, Scott A. Reviewing reliance on overseas-trained doctors in rural Australia and planning for self-sufficiency: applying 10 years' MABEL evidence. Hum Resour Health 2019;17(1):8.
- 27. Carlin E, Alberti H, Davies K. Denigration of general practice as a career choice: The students' perspective. A qualitative study. BJGP Open 2021;23:5(1):bjgpopen20X101132.
- 28. Jordan J, Brown JB, Russell G. Choosing family medicine. What influences medical students? Can Fam Physician 2003;49:1131–37.
- 29. Ogden J, Preston S, Partanen RL, Ostini R, Coxeter P. Recruiting and retaining general practitioners in rural practice: Systematic review and meta-analysis of rural pipeline effects. Med J Aust 2020; 213(5):228–36.
- 30. The Royal Australian College of General Practitioners. RACGP response to the National Healthcare Interoperability Plan. 2021. Available at www.racgp.org.au/advocacy/reports-and-submissions/view-all-reports-and-submissions/2021-reports-and-submissions/national-healthcare-interoperability-plan [Accessed 31 October 2022].
- 31. Varhol RJ, Randall S, Boyd JH, Robinson S. Australian general practitioner perceptions to sharing clinical data for secondary use: A mixed method approach. BMC Prim Care 2022;23(1):167.
- 32. Canaway R, Boyle DI, Manski-Nankervis JA, et al. Gathering data for decisions: Best practice use of primary care electronic records for research. Med J Aust 2019;210:S12–S16.

